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BEFORE
THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION OF OHIO
Level 3 Communications, LLC
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Broadwing Communications, LLC,
CaseNo. 07-668-TP-CSS
Complainants,
v.
Neutral Tandem-Michigan, LLC,
Respondent.

NEUTRAL TANDEM'S MOTION TO DISMISS LEVEL 3^S COMPLAINT AS MOOT

Pursuant to Rule 4901-1-12(A), Ohio Administrative Code ("O.A.C."), and any other
statutes and regulations deemed applicable. Neutral Tandem-Michigan, LLC and Neutral
Tandem, Inc. (collectively, "Neutral Tandem"), by and through undersigned counsel, move the
Commission to dismiss as moot the complaint of Level 3 Communications LLC and Broadwing
Communications, LLC (collectively, "Level 3") for the reasons more fiilly set forth in the
accompanying memorandum. Upon dismissal of the complaint, the Commission may deem the
counterclaim against Level 3 filed m conjunction with Neutral Tandem's answer to be
voluntarily withdrawn. .
WHEREFORE, Neutral Tandem respectfiilly requests that its motion to dismiss be

^ h i s i a t o c e r t i f tr •-»»

%
%

and

granted.

^

Oo

Respectfiilly submitted,

Berth E. Royer
Bell & Royer Co., L.P. A.
33 South Grant Avenue
Columbus, Ohio 43215-3900
(614) 228-0704
(614)228-0201 (fax)
barthrover@aol. com
Ronald Gavillet
Executive Vice President &
General Counsel
Neutral Tandem, Inc.
One South Wacker, Suite 200
Chicago, IL 60606
(312)384-8000
(312) 346-3276 (fax)
rongavillet@neutraltandem.com
John R. Harrington
Jenner & Block LLP
330 N.Wabash Ave.
Suite 4700
Chicago, IL 60611
(312)222-9350
(312) 840-7791 (fax)
iharrington@Jenner.com
Attomeys for
Neutral Tandem-Michigan LLC and
Neutral Tandem, Inc.

BEFORE
THE PUBLIC UTILFTIES COMMISSION OF OHIO
Level 3 Communications, LLC
and
Broadwing Communications, LLC,
CaseNo. 07-668-TP-CSS
Complainants,
V.

Neutral Tandem-Michigan, LLC,
Respondent.

MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT
OF
NEUTRAL TANDEM'S MOTION TO DISMISS LEVEL 3'S COMPLAINT AS MOOT
In support ofthe foregoing motion to dismiss, Neutral Tandem states as follows:
1.

Level 3 filed the above-captioned complaint with the Commission on May 31,

2007. The complaint stated that Level 3 intended to terminate its existing interconnections with
Neutral Tandem as of June 25, 2007. [Complaint, f^ HH 21, 23(b), (c), and (d)] Level 3
requested that the Commission direct Neutral Tandem to stop routing traffic through the parties'
existing interconnections as of that date and to provide notice to Neutral Tandem's carrier
customers of such impending service migration.

(Id,)

Level 3 also requested that the

Commission order Neutral Tandem to pay Level 3 a $.001/minute usage charge for any traffic
delivered over the parties' existing interconnections afier June 25, 2007. [Complaint, H 23(e),

2.

On June 20, 2007, Neutral Tandem filed its answer and counterclaim against

Level 3. Neutral Tandem's counterclaim requested that the Commission order Level 3 to
contmue receiving traffic via the parties' existing interconnections after June 25, 2007 on
nondiscriminatory terms and conditions. (Counterclaim, T^j 68-70.) On July 13, 2007, Level 3
filed its answer to Neutral Tandem's counterclaim, and, on July 26, 2007, filed a motion to
dismiss the counterclaim. On August I, 2007, Neutral Tandem filed a motion to extend the
deadline for its response to Level 3's motion to dismiss the counterclaim to August 15, 2007.
3.

To date, the Commission has not issued a mling on Level 3's motion to dismiss

Neutral Tandem's counterclaim or any other substantive mlings, and no formal procedural
schedule has been established.
4.

As averred in the affidavit of Dr. Surendra Saboo attached hereto as Exhibit 1, as

of August 3, 2007, Neutral Tandem no longer delivers any traffic to Level 3 in Ohio via the
parties' existing intercoimections. (Exhibit 1, Saboo Aff. ^ 3.) Accordingly, there no longer is
any basis for Level 3 to continue to pursue its requests that the Commission order Neutral
Tandem to stop routing traffic over the parties' existing interconnections and order Neutral
Tandem to provide notice to its carrier customers. Accordingly, Level 3's complaint should be
dismissed as moot*
5.

Similarly, there no longer is any basis for Neutral Tandem to pursue its

counterclaim against Level 3, and, upon the Commission's dismissal ofthe complaint, Neutral
Tandem's counterclaim may be deemed to be withdrawn.
6.

Level 3 may contend that its request that the Commission order Neutral Tandem

to pay Level 3's unilateral $.001/minute charge is not moot. [Complaint, H 23(e), (f)] There is
' See, e.g.. Docket No. 91-169-TP-CSS, In the Matter ofthe Complaint of Wayne R. Lundberg, v. The
Ohio Bell Telephone Company, 1992 Ohio PUC LEXIS 201, *6 (Mar. 12, 1992).

no basis whatsoever for the Commission to issue an order requiring Neutral Tandem to pay any
such charge.

There is no contract between Neutral Tandem and Level 3 providing for the

payment of any such charge, nor, to Neutral Tandem's knowledge, has Level 3 tariffed any such
charge.
7.

To the contrary, the S.OOl/minute charge literally was made up out of thm air by

Level 3. Level 3 has admitted in other proceedmgs that the $.001/minute charge is not based on
any costs Level 3 claims to incur to receive traffic from Neutral Tandem.^
8.

Other state commissions have rejected Level 3's attempt to unilaterally impose

this unsupported and excessive $.00l/minute charge. The Illinois Commerce Commission found
that Level 3's attempt to impose this charge as an offer of compromise was "illusory"^ and
violated that state's laws forbidding carriers from "knowingly impeding the development of
competition" in Illinois. The Illmois commission also described Level 3's attempts to impose
this charge as "impermissible," and noted that Level 3's efforts were:
littie more than a thinly-veiled attempt to impose a reciprocal compensation-like
obligation upon NT [Neutral Tandem] under a different label. . . . We also reject
Level 3's notion that such a charge is a market-based rate. Level 3 has provided
nothing to substantiate such a label."*
9.

The New York Public Service Commission rejected a similar request by Level 3

that Neutral Tandem pay Level 3 a $.0007/minute charge after June 25 - less than the charge
Level 3 demands here - concluding that the charge was "avowedly designed to encourage
Neutral Tandem to stop offering tandem switching service" and would be "inconsistent with the
^ See Docket No. 07-03-008, Neutral Tandem California, LLC. v. Level 3 Communications, LLC, Cal.
Pub. Util. Comm'n, 06/05/07 Evidentiary Hearii^ Transcript, at 257. (Exhibit 2.)
^ Docket No. 07-0277, Neutral Tandem, Inc. v. Level 3 Communications, LLC, 111. Commerce Comm'n,
adopting June 25,2007 Order of ALJ Brodsky, at 9 (July 10, 2007) (Exhibit 3). The June 25, 2007 Order
of ALJ Brodsky (hereafter "Brodsky Order") is attached hereto as Exhibit 4.
"^ Brodsky Order, at 10. Level 3's conduct in that proceeding was found so egr^ous tiiat Level 3 was
ordered to pay nearly ail of Neutral Tandem's attorneys' fees. (Id. at 13, 15.)

objectives" that the New York commission cited in granting Neutral Tandem's petition for reUef
in that state. ^
10.

In sum, there is no basis in law, contract, or otherwise for the excessive, non cost-

based charge Level 3 seeks to impose for the brief period from June 25, 2007 until traffic to
Level 3 ceased on August 3, 2007, and this Commission has no authority to order the payment of
such charge. Thus, with the cessation ofthe traffic. Level 3's complaint is moot and should be
dismissed. Upon dismissal of the Level 3 complaint by the Commission, the Commission may
deem Neutral Tandem's counterclaim to be withdrawn.
Respectfiilly submitted,

Ronald Gavillet
Executive Vice President &
General Counsel
Neutral Tandem, Inc.
One South Wacker, Suite 200
Chicago, IL 60606
(312)384-8000
(312) 346-3276 (fax)
rongavillet@jieutraltandem.com

Barth E. Royer
Bell & Royer Co., L.P.A.
33 South Grant Avenue
Columbus, Ohio 43215-3900
(614)228-0704
(614) 228-0201 (fax)
barthrover@aol. com

John R, Harrington
Jenner & Block LLP
330 N.Wabash Ave.
Suite 4700
Chicago, IL 60611
(312)222-9350
(312) 840-7791 (fax)
jharrington@jenner. com
Attomeys for
Neutral Tandem-Michigan LLC and Neutral Tandem, Inc.
^ Docket No. 07-C-0233, In re Petition ofNeutral Tandem-New York, LLC for Interconnection with Level
3 Communications and Request for Order Preventing Service Disruption, New York Pubhc Service
Commission, Order Preventing Service Dismption and Requiring Continuation of Interim
Interconnection, at 13 (June 22, 2007) (Ex. 5).

EXHIBIT 1

BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION OF OHIO
Level 3 Communications, LLC
and
Broadwing Communications, LLC
Case No. 07-668-TP-CSS
Complainants,
V.

Neutral Tandem-Michigan, LLC,
Respondent.
AFFIDAVIT OF DR. SURENDRA SABOO
I, Dr. Surendra Saboo, being duly swom under oath, state the following:
1.

I am Surendra Saboo, the Chief Operating Office and Executive Vice

President of Neutral Tandem, Inc. and Neutral Tandem Inc. and Neutral Tandem-Michigan, LLC
("Neutral Tandem"), and am authorized to make the statements contained herein.
2.

Neutral Tandem previously delivered tandem transit traffic to Level 3

Communications, LLC and its subsidiary Broadwing Communications, LLC (collectively "Level
3"), in Ohio via existing direct interconnections between Neutral Tandem and Level 3.
3.

As of August 3, 2007, Neutral Tandem no longer delivers tandem transit

traffic to Level 3 in Ohio through the parties' existing direct interconnections.

AFFIANT FURTHER SAYETH NOT.
^-x_
Dr. Surendra Saboo
Swom to and subscribed before me
this

J~

day of

jMOS^r

cV/.^*^^^ i^^^
,2007

Jrfu-0*j
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1

SAN FRANCISCO,

CALIFORNIA,
* * *

2
3
4
5

JUNE 5 ,
* *

2007 -

ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE REED:

12:30

P.M.

We are on the

record.
This is the time and place for the

6

continuation of the evidentiary hearing for Case

7

07-03-008, Neutral Tandem California^ LLC, versus Level

8

3 Communications and its Subsidiaries.

9

Good afternoon.

Yesterday we had the first

10

part of this proceeding, which was Neutral Tandejn's

11

case, and this afternoon we will have Level 3's

12

And are there any preliminary matters?

13

MR. BLOOMFIELD:

14

MR. ROGERS:

15

ALJ REED:

16
17
18

No, your Honor.

Level 3 does not have any.
Okay.

Mr. Levin, Mr. Rogers, do you

want to call your first witness.
MR. ROGERS:

Yes, your Honor.

Thank you.

We will

call Ms. Sara Baack as our first witness.

19

ALJ REED:

20

THE WITNESS:

21

SARA BAACK, called as a witness by
Level 3 Communications, having been
sworn, testified a s follows;

22

case.

Ms. Baack, how are you?
I'm fine.

Thank you.

23
24
25

ALJ REED:

Okay.

Would you have a seat.

Would

you state your full name and your business address,

26

THE WITNESS:

27

ALJ REED:

28

THE WITNESS:

Yes.

Spelling your full name for the record.
My name is Sara, S^a-r-a, Baack,
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1

Thank you.

2

Q

Ms. Baack, let me direct your attention to

3

Exhibit 1.1 to your direct testimony, which was a May

4

8th letter from you --

5

A

Yes.

6

Q

—

7

Tandem.

8

A

Mm-mm.

9

Q

And it's -- I believe in the third paragraph

to Rian Wren and Surendra Saboo of Neutral

10

of that letter you indicate that if Neutral Tandem sends

11

traffic to Level 3 beyond June 25th, 2007, Level 3 will

12

charge Neutral Tandem a rate of $0,001 per minute

13

terminated.

Do you see that?

14

A

Yes.

15

Q

Is that rate a cost-based rate for Level 3?

16

A

No.

17

Q

Let me direct your attention to page 24 of

18

your testimony.

19

questions about the network issues that you've testified

20

about.

And I want to ask you just one or two

Are you on page 24?

21

A

Yes.

22

Q

Do you see, you're asked a question regarding

23

Mr. Saboo's estimate of the time it would take to

24

rearrange traffic, and you say, "Mr. Saboo's six-month

25

estimate is unreliable and self-contradicted"?

26

A

Yes, I do.

27

Q

Do you see that?

28

A

Yes,
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snnoFiuHe

ItJJNOIS OlMMERCE COMMISSION
July 10.2007

Neutral Tandem. Inc. and
Neutral Tandem-lllinois, LLC
-vsLevel 3 Communications, LLC
07-0277
Verified Complaint and Request
for Declaratory Ruling pursuant to
Sections 13-515 and 10-108 ofthe
Illinois Public Utilities Act

CERTIFICATE OF COMMISSION ACTION
TO ALL PARTIES OF INTEREST:
This Is to certify that the Commisston in conference on July 10, 2007, took the
following action:
H H H l Neutral Tandem's Response to Level 3*3 Motion Requesting Oral
Argument filed on July 6,2007;
H E S m Nfeutnal Tandem's Response to Level 3'& Petition for Review, filed
on July 6,2007;
m m H i P the adoption of the Administrative Law Judge's Order dated
June 25,2007.
Related memoranda wSf be available on our web ^le (wwwJGc.iianols.gov/e-docket]
in the dodcet numl>er referenced above.

EAR:ml
Administrative Law Judge Brodsl<y

527 e«S( OfOd Mmt, S f r i l ^ ^ llilli(«270l ITDO (-V/mr) I l l 7 | 7V2-7434I

Sen/icelist-07-0277
John R. Harrington & Matt D. Basil
Attys. for t4eutral Tandem, Inc. and
Neutral Tandem-lllinoiG. LLC
Jenner Block LLP
330 N. Wabash Ave., Ste. 4700
Chicdgo.lL 60611 *
maitta:mba8l@ienner.cam
mailto:jharrington@}ermerxoni
B e n C. Craig
Atty. for Neutral Tandem, Inc. and
Neutral Tandem-Illinois, LLC
2970 N. Lake Shore E>., Unit 15F
Chicago. IL 60657 *
mailto:epkoc@eafthllnk.n^
Ronald W.Gavyiet
Executive Vice President and
General Counsel
t^4eiArai Tandem, Inc.
One S. WadttT Dr.. Ste. 200
ChfcagoJL 60606 *
maitto:rgavillet@neutraitandOTi .com
Matthew Harvey & Stefenie Glover
Office of General Counsel
160 N. LaSalle SL. Ste. C-800
Chicago. IL 60601-3104 *
malltO'jnharvey@ioc.ninols.gov
maltos9lover@icc.ilbx>l&.gov
Document Processor
Level 3 Communications, LLC
llUnols Corporation Service Company
801 Adiai Stevenson Dr.
SprBignetd.lL 62703-4261 *
maato:(217) 544-4657 (FAX)
JeffHoagg
Case Manager
Illinois Commeroe Commission
527 E. Capitol Ave.
Springfield. IL 62701 •
maitto:jhoagg@icc.illlnoi&.gov
Henry T. Kelly
Atty. for Level 3 Communications. LLC
Kelley Drye & Warren LLP
333 W. Wacker Dr.. Ste. 2600
Chicago. IL 60606 *
maitto:HKelty@KetleyDrye.com

* Active Parties

Brett H. Freadson
Atty for Level 3 Communications, LLC
Kelley Drye & Wsrren LLP
120010th St, N.W., Ste. 500
Washington, DC 20036 *
maitto:bifreedson@kelteydrye.com
Erik Cecil & Rick E.Ttiayer
Level 3 Communicatk)ru, LLC
1025 EMorado Blvd.
Broomfield. CO 60021 "
mailto:erik.cecil@level3xom
maiho:rick.thayer@ievel3.oom
Julie Musselman
Level 3 Communicatk)ns, LLC
KeRey Drye & Warren LLP
333 W. Wacker Dr.. Ste. 2600
Chk^go. IL 60606 *
malttoxlMu88elman@kelleydrye.com

EXHIBIT 4

STATE OF ILLINOIS
ILLINOIS COMMERCE COMMISSION
Neutral Tandem, Inc. and
Neutral Tandem-illinois, LLC
-vsLevel 3 Communications, LLC
07-0277
Verified Complaint and Request for
Declaratory Ruling pursuant to
Sections 13-515 and 10-108 ofthe
Illinois Public Utilities A d .
ORDER
This matter concerns an interconnection dispute between Neutral Tandem, Inc.
and Neutral Tandem-Illinois, LLC (collectively "NT") and Level 3 Communications, LLC
("Level 3"). NT alleges that Level 3 refuses to accept delivery of transit traffic without
NT paying charges for which it is not properly responsible, and that Level 3 has
threatened to disconnect NT if it does not accept Level 3's terms. NT states that it
seel<s interconnection at reasonable and non-discriminatory temis for the delivery of
traffic bound for Level 3 subscribers, but that it does not seeic to force Level 3 to be a
customer of NT. Level 3 maintains that the prior agreement under which NT delivers
traffic to Level 3 has expired. Level 3 avers that it is free to terminate the agreement
pursuant to the provisions contained therein. For the reasons that tollow. we find in
favor of NT, with the relief sought granted in part and denied in part.

BACKGROUND
NT and Level 3 are both telecommunications earners in Illinois. Level 3 is a
competitive local exchange earner (CLEC) with end user customers. Traffic is
originated by or teminated to customers on the Level 3 network. NT does not have
such end-user customers; no traffic originates from or terminates to NT's network. NT's
customers use NT to deliver traffic to the networks of other CLECs with which they are
not directly interconnected. NT "transits" such traffic over its tandems, and delivers it to
the recipient CLEC for termination to its end user.
To achieve this, NT is interconnected with various local exchange carriers
(LECs), both incumbent (ILEC) as well as CLEC. NT receives traffic frcim the
originating LEC at their point of interconnection, transits the traffic over its own network,
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and delivers It to its point of interconnection with the terminating LEC. The terminating
LEC accepts the traffic and completes the call to the end user.
Interconnection, as a general matter, is an obligation ol LECs pursuant to federal
and Illinois law.^ The parties to this matter disagree on which manner of interconnection
complies with federal and state law.
NT states that it is the only Independent tandem services provider; all other
providers of tandem ser/ices are ILECs. NTs competitor for this service in Illinois is
none other than AT&T.^ NT also states that it delivers 492 million minutes of traffic per
month on behalf of the nineteen CLECs that utilize NT's services. NT avers that these
nineteen CLECs are among the largest facilities-based CLECs in Illinois. NT's volume
represents 50% of the local tandem transit traffic in Illinois, and includes 56 million
minutes per month delivered to Level 3 for termination to '^s subscribers. NT notes ttiat,
if Level 3 is allowed to block traffic from NT, all of these third-party CLECs vwll be denied
their chosen method of delivering this traffic to Level 3.
NT's network provides an alternate path for traffic to the AT&T tandems. NT
asserts that this benefits the public and the strength of the public switched telephone
network (PSTN) by decreasing the likelihood of tandem exhaust, call blocking, and,
during an emergency, network-wide failure due to a disruption at a particular point.
Pursuant to various contracts, NT and Level 3 exchanged traffic since 2004.
Under one contract, NT delivered to Level 3 traffic originated by third-party CLECs and
bound for Level 3. Under a second. NT similarly delivered traffic to Level 3's subsidiary
Broadwing Communications. Under a third contract, Level 3 delivers to NT traffic
originated by Level 3 and bound for third-party CLECs. Pursuant to this contract, NT
transits the traffic originated on the Level 3 network.
NT notes that it pays 100% of the cost of the transport facilities and electnDnics
between NT and Level 3 that are used to terminate traffic to Level 3's network. NT also
provides to Level 3 all of the billing infonnation that Level 3 needs to collect reciprocal
compensation from the originating carriers, including ail of the signaling information NT
receives from the originating carrier.
On January 31, 2007, the parties executed a contract^ extending the term for
Level 3 to deliver traffic lo NT for transiting to third-party CLECs. Later that same day,
Level 3 sent notice temninating the agreement by which third-party CLECs can deliver
traffic to Level 3 via NTs tandems. Termination of the agreement was designated to

^ See 47 U.S.C. 251; 220 ILCS 5/13-514(1).
^ Both NT and Level 3 refer to the ILEC by its brand name of "AT&T" rather than its legal name of Illinois
Beli Telephone Company. For consistency, this Order will do the same.
^ NT calls it an amendment to the prior contract; Level 3 explicitly denies that it is an amendment, and
insists that it is a new contract. Its label is immaterial to the chronology of events leading to this
proceeding.
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occur on March 2, 2007. The same executive at Level 3 who signed the contract with
NT also signed the notice of temiinatfon.^
Letters were exchanged between NT and Level 3 throughout February, 2007.
The termination date was moved back to Inarch 23, 2007, and at some subsequent
time, to June 25, 2007.
On April 24, 2007, Level 3 sent a letter stating that, pursuant to 83 III, Adm. Code
731.905, it was giving notice that the expiration was set for June 25, 2007, after which
Level 3 would disconnect NT.
On April 25, 2007, NT filed vwth the Illinois Commerce Commission (the
"Commission") its Verified Complaint and Request for Declaratory Ruling (the
"Complainf), In which it alleges violations by Level 3 of Section 13-514, subsections (1).
(2). and (6), as well as Sections 13-702 and 9-250, ofthe Public Utilities Act® (the "Act").
Respondent filed its Answer on May 2, 2007, in accordance with Section
13-515(d)(4) ofthe Act
Consistent with Section 13-515(d)(6) of the Act and pursuant to due notice, a
status hearing was convened on May 8, 2007. Also on May 8, 2007, Level 3 sent a
letter to NT stating that:
commencing on June 25. 2007, If and to the extent that Neutral Tandem
elects to deliver transit traffic to Level 3 for termination, and if Level 3
elects to terminate such traffic on Neutral Tandem's behalf, Level 3 will
charge Neutral Tandem at a rate of $0,001 per minute terminated. Level 3
reserves ... the right to terminate the acceptance and delivery of Neutral
Tandem's transit traffic. * * * * By continuing to send traffic to Level 3 for
temnination from and after June 25. 2007, Neutral Tandem will be
evidencing Its acceptance of these financial terms.^
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Level 3 has stated in this proceeding that It does
not collect reciprocal compensation from originating carriers for traffic terminated to the
Level 3 network, and does not pnDactively pay reciprocal compensation to other CLECs
for traffic it originates and terminates on their networks.
The case was tried on May 22 and May 23, 2007. NT, Level 3, and the Staff of
the Commission CStaff) all appeared by counsel. NT offered testimony from Mr. Rian
Wren, its President and Chief Executive Officer, as well as from Mr. Surendra Saboo. its
* In its Answer, Level 3 generally admits this allegation and, in any event, did not deny it (See Complaint
and Answer 1J25>. Accordingly, Level 3 is deemed to have admitted it. 735 ILCS 5/2-610(b) ("Every
allegation, except allegations of damages, not explicitly denied is admitted...").
^ See generaify 220 ILCS 6/1-101 etseq.
^Levels ex. 1.1.
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Chief Operating Officer and Executive Vice President. Level 3 offered testimony from
Ms. Sara 6dad<, the Senior Vice President of its Wholesale Markets Group, as well as
from Mr. Timothy J. Gates, Senior Vice President of QSI Consulting, located in
Highlands Ranch, Colorado. Staff offered testimony fn^m Mr. Jeffrey Hoagg. Principal
Policy Advisor in the Telecommunications Division of the Commission.

ANALYSIS
The Public Utilities Act
NT asserts that Level 3's actions violate Section 13-514 of the Act. That Section
states:
A telecommunications carrier shall not knowingly impede the development
of competition in any telecommunications service market The following
prohibited actions are considered per se Impediments to the development
of competition; however, the Commission is not limited in any manner to
these enumerated impediments and may consider other actions which
impede competition to be prohibited:
(1) unreasonably refusing or delaying intensonnections or
coltocation or providing Inferior connections to another
telecommunications carrier;
(2) unreasonably impairing the speed, quality, or efficiency of
services used by another telecommunications carrier; * * * *
(6) unreasonably acting or failing to act in a manner that has a
substantial adverse effect on the ability of another
telecommunications carrier to provide service to its customers[.f
NT also alleges a violation of Section 13-702, which states:
Every telecommunications earner operating in this State shall receive,
transmit and deliver, without discrimination or delay, the conversations,
messages or other transmissions of every other telecommunications
carrier with v4)ich a joint rate has been established or with whose line a
physical connection may have been made.®
Finally, NT relies upon Section 9-250 of the Act, which states that, where the
Commission, upon complaint or its own motion, finds that a rate, charge, ... contract, or
other utility practice:

^ 220 ILCS 5/13-514. 13-514(1), 13-614(2). 13-514(6).
^220 ILCS 5/13-702.

4
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[is] unjust, unreasonable, discriminatory or preferential, or in any way in
violation of any provisions of law. ... the Commission shall determine the
just, reasonable or sufficient rates or other charges, classifications, rules,
regulations, contracts or practices to be thereafter observed and in force,
and shall fix the same by order as hereinafter pnDvided.®
The Complaint does not seek relief pursuant to the federal Telecommunications Act of
1996.
Interconnection; Section 13-514
It is undisputed that Section 251 of the federal Telecommunications Act requires
all telecommunications carriers "to Interconnect directly or indirectly with the facilities
and equipment of other telecommunications carriers."''^ The parties appear to agree
that the fundamental purpose of interconnection is the exchange of traffic. At issue in
this proceeding is the manner in which such interconnection may occur.
NT seeks to maintain its existing direct interconnection with Level 3, NT's CLEC
customers, via NT, are indirectly interconnected with Level 3 under this arrangement.
Because NT Is a transit provider rather than a LEC, the prefen^ed arrangements of both
NT and Level 3 feature "indirect interconnection" but for different entities. For the
purpose of this Order, this direct/indirect interconnection arrangement will be labeled
"Type N" interconnection after its proponent.
Level 3 asserts that all that is required of it is indirect interconnection with NT. It
argues that Section 251(a) requires all carriers to directly or indirectly interconnect, but
does not mandate direct interconnection between carriers.^^ Level 3 relies on this
choice offered by Section 251(a)(1) to justify its termination of the existing direct
interconnection.
After Level 3 disconnects NT to prevent it from delivering traffic to Level 3, NT
would be indirectly interconnected with Level 3 via AT&T. As Staff points out NT's
CLEC customers then would only have a doubly-indirect interconnection with Level 3,
via NT and AT&T. This indirect/doubly-indirect interconnection arrangement wilt be
labeled "Type L" interconnection for the purpose of this Order.
The difference between a "Type L" and "Type N" interconnection is that the "Type
L" Involves a second transit provider, i.e.. a more intricate call path and a second set of
transit costs for the originating CLEC. Furthermore, as Staff witness Hoagg explains,
the "Type L" interconnection forces originating CLECs to utilize a call path other than

220 ILCS 5/9-260. (This authority is explicitly extended to single rates or other charges, classifications,
etc. Id.) Cf. 220 ILCS 5/13-101 (applying Section 9-250, inter alia, to competitive telecommunications
rates and services).
'%7 U.S.C. 251(a)(1).
See id.
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the one they apparently prefer, as evident from their present subscriptions with NT.
Accordingly, where a "Type N" interconnection is possible, forcing the use of a "Type L"
interconnection violates Section 13-614(1) of the Act, which prohibits the provision of
Inferior connections to another carrier. ^^ Requiring NT or an originating CLEC to incur a
second set of transit costs is the hallmark of the inferiority of this type of interconnection.
It also violates Section 13-514(2) of the Act, which prohibits a telecommunications
carrier from inhibiting the speed, quality, or efficiency of services used by another
carrier.^^
Level 3 has secured a "Type N" interconnection for Its own use, i.e., it is directly
interconnected with NT for the purpose of having traffic originated on the Level 3
networi< transited by NT to other CLECs. The instant dispute concerns, in part, an
attempt by Level 3 to force upon NT and its 18 other CLEC customers a "Type L"
interconnection. By disconnecting NT and forcing it to route traffic bound for Level 3 via
AT&T, Level 3 would simultaneously impose a substantial adverse effect on NT's ability
to serve its customers, and foreclose from competing CLECs the very arrangement that
Level 3 uses for itself. Both of these effects violate Section 13-514(6).^*
In addition. Staff explains that, if Level 3 disconnects NT, it prevents other
CLECs from using NT to transit their traffic to Level 3. The CLECs then will face the
choice of paying either (i) the AT&T price, which is 130% of that charged by NT, or (11)
the price of both NT and AT&T (230% of NT's price^*), and will invariably retum to AT&T
at tfie expense of NT. This scenario will degrade the ability of NT to do business, and
will impede the development of competition in Illinois. Therefore, the position advocated
by Level 3 violates Illinois law.^* Also, NT accurately characterizes Level 3's scheme,
with two transit providers, two sets of costs, and mandatory routing of traffic through the
ILEC. as functionally equivalent of a refusal by Level 3 to interconnect with NT. This
violates the requirement of Section 251(a) of the Telecommunications Act to
interconnect directly or indirectly. Notwithstanding Level 3's arguments that it is
shielded by Section 251(a), that Section does not explicitly authorize doubly-indirect
interconnection or preempt enforcement of State law claims.
Finally, NT points out that the FCC previously detemnined that direct
interconnection'^ is appropriate when more than 200,000 minutes of traffic are delivered

'^ See 220 ILCS 5/13-514(1).
^^ See 220 ILCS 5/13-514(2).
^^ See 220 ILCS 5/13-514(6).
^^ Setting NT's price as the base price, this figure represents the sum of the proportions of NT's price
(100%) and AT&T's price (130%).
'® See 220 ILCS 5/13-514 (prohibiting a telecommunications can-ier from "impedfing] the development of
competition in any telecommunications service market").
" S e e 47 U.S.C. 251(a)(1).
^* This corresponds to that labeled as "Type N" interconnection in this matter, and favors a direct rather
than indirect interconnection between NT and Level 3.
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per month.^® NT states it delivers approximately 56 million minutes of traffic per month
to Level 3—many times the threshold level of traffic. Therefore, the position advocated
by Level 3 also is not consistent with the federal law on point.
Level 3 does argue that It should be free to end the existing relationship based
on the termination clause in the contract. Nevertheless, Level 3 is still certified under
the Act to operate as a telecommunications carrier in Illinois, and as such, it must
comply with Illinois law. Section 13-406 of the Act, concerning discontinuation or
abandonment of telecommunications service, directly addresses Level 3's argument.
Section 13-406 provides, in relevant part, that:
No telecommunications carrier offering or providing competitive
telecommunications service shall discontinue or abandon such service
once Initiated except upon 30 days notice to the Commission and affected
customers. The Commission may, upon its own motion or upon complaint,
investigate the proposed discontinuance or abandonment of a competitive
telecommunications service and may, after notice and hearing, prohibit
such proposed discontinuance or abandonment if the Commission finds
that it would be contrary to the public interest.^^
By proposing to disconnects^ NT, Level 3 would impose upon NT, its 18 other CLEC
customers, and all of their subscribers a discontinuation of service, as well as the perse
impediments to competition complained of pursuant to Section 13-514. These impacts,
along with the scheme of disparate treatment that would cause them, are contrary to the
public interest.
Both the unreasonableness and the knowing intent elements of NT's Section 13514 claims^^ are apparent from the nature and timing of Level 3's actions. In seeking to
impose its uneven arrangement, it signed the contract related to traffic originated by
Level 3, and that same day gave notice to terminate the contract related to traffic to be
terminated to Level 3. Level 3 also fails to reconcile its own interpretation of federal
Section 251(a)—^that either a direct or an indirect interconnection is required—^with the
FCC's requirement of a direct interconnection above a 200,000 minute per month
threshold.^^ Furthermore, the impact of Level 3's threats on third-party CLECs not
involved in the instant dispute, as well as their customers, amplifies the
unreasonableness of Level 3's position.

^^ In the Matter of Interconnection Disputes with Verizon Virginia, inc., DA 02-1731, CC 00-218. 00-249.
00-251, Memorandum Opinion and Order. ^115-16 (rel. July 17, 2002).
^ 220 tLCS 5/13-406 (emphasis added).
^^ Under the facts of this case, we find no material distinction between the labels of "discontinuation" of
service and "disconnection" of an existing interconnection poinL
^^ See 220 ILCS 5/13-514 etseq.
^ For citations and discussion, see supra nn. 11 and 19.

07-0277
Level 3 repeatedly complains that it is being made to provide a direct physical
interconnection in perpetuity. Staff notes that, given the amount of traffic that NT
transits to Level 3 for termination, direct physical interconnection is required as a matter
of federal law,^* and, as a practical matter, is simply a condition of doing business in the
market We agree, although our holding is not tliat Level 3 must permanently maintain
the exact-status_quo. but rather that Level 3 must comply with the law. This includes,
but is not limited to, refraining from actions that discriminate against other
telecommunications carriers or the public. Therefore, to the extent that Level 3 seeks to
redefine its relationship with NT, it must do so without violating Section 13-514 or any
other section of the Act, and without taking actions that are detrimental to the public
interest. As applied to the facts of the instant case, this means that the direct
interconnection between NT and Level 3 must remain intact.
Section 13-702
Section 13-702 prohibits discrimination or delay in receiving, transmitting, and
delivering traffic with telecommunications carriers with whom "a physical connection
may have been made."^^ NT and Level 3 were and still are directly, physically
interconnected for the exchange of traffic, so the condition upon the applicability of
Section 13-702 is satisfied.
NT complains that Level 3's threat to block traffic from NT violates this Section.
NT also avers that the per se impediments to competition complained of pursuant to
Section 13-514 are sufficient to establish "discrimination or delay" under Section 13702. Weagree.2®
Level 3 argues that Section 13-702 merely "requires Level 3 to receive traffic
where there is an ongoing agreement for the exchange of traffic."^^ The scope of 13702 is more broad than that advocated by Level 3, however. As discussed supra. Level
3's position would simultaneously impact NT adversely In its ability to serve its
customers, and would foreclose from others the very arrangement that Level 3 uses for
itself. The intent of this Section of the Act is the prohibition of discrimination or delay.
Although Level 3 protests that there is no duty to maintain interconnectwn imposed by
this Section, the discrimination fiowing from Level 3's leveraging of the interconnection
with NT is prohibited.
Finally, Level 3 advances the letter dated May 8, 2007, from Level 3 witness
Baack to NT witnesses Wren and Saboo, to indicate the possibility of continued direct
^^ See id.
^^ See 220 ILCS 5/13-702.
^® Compare id. ("discrimination or delay") with 220 ILCS 5/13-514(1) ("unreasonably refusing or delaying
interconnections" ... "providing inferior connections"); 5/13-514(2) ("unreasonably impairing the speed,
quality, or efficienc/*); 5/13-514(6) ("unreasonably [imposing] a substantial adverse effect on the ability of
another telecommunications carrier to provide service to its customers.*)
^^Level3lniLBr.at14.
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interconnection conditioned upon payment by NT per minute of traffic temninated. To
the extent that Level 3 asserts that the letter comprises an offer, it contains language
that violates Section 13-702 and, as a general matter, is illusory. The letter states that,
if NT delivers traffic to Level 3, "and if Level 3 elects to terminate such traffic on [NT]'s
behalf.... Level 3 reserves ... the right to terminate the acceptance and delivery of
[NTJ'js traosiLtrBffic.I^Leye\ 3, however, does, not get to. choose whether or not it will
terminate traffic bound for its subscribers.^ Level 3*s position also Is inconsistent with
the law concerning reciprocal compensation, as discussed infra.
Reciprocal Compensation
Reciprocal compensation is a principle recognized in federal law.
The
Telecommunications Act of 1996 mandates that "[e]ach local exchange carrier has ...
[t]he duty to establish reciprocal compensation arrangements for the transport and
termination of telecommunications."^ This is a requirement of all LECs, not just
ILECs.^^ The FCC mles further clarify that:
a reciprocal compensation arrangement between two carriers is one in
which each of the two carriers receives compensation from the other
carrier for the transport and termination on each carrier's network facilities
of telecommunications traffic that originates on the network facilities of the
other carrier.^^
The evidence establishes that NT does not originate traffic. Furthermore, the rule does
not impose reciprocal compensation obligations with respect to transiting the traffic.^^ In
addition, this Commission previously has rejected attempts to impose reciprocal

Level 3 ex. 1.1, TI3 (emphasis added).
^ See 220 ILCS 5/13-702 ("Every telecommunications carrier operating in this State shall receive,
transmit and deliver, v\/ithout discrimination or delay, [such traffic]." Level 3's letter dated May 8, 2007,
implies the maintenance of the direct physical interconnection between NT and Level 3, thereby satis^ing
the condition for this Section of the Act to apply.); see also MCI TeL Corp.: Petition for Arbitration
pursuant to Section 252(b) of the Telecommunications Act of 1996 to Estabfish an interconnection
Agreement with Ili. Bell Tel. Co., Docket 96-AB-006,1996 III. PUC Lexis 706, at *38 (Dec. 17,1996) ("The
very essence of interconnection is the establishment of a seamless network of networks, and to develop
fine distinctions between types of traffic, as Ameritech Illinois would have us do, will merely create
inefficiencies, raise costs and erect barriers to competition.") In 1996, Illinois Bell Telephone Company
was the only provider of transit service (see id. at *31), and the record ofthe instant case Indicates that
NT is the only independent provider of such service today. [See supra n.2 regarding Illinois Bell
Telephone Company d/b/a AT&T Illinois ("AT&r), f/k/a SBC Illinois, f/k/a Ameritech Illinois.)
^ 4 7 U.S.C. 251(b)(5).

'Ud.
2^ 47 C.F.R. 51.701(e).
^ See id.
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compensation on transit providers.^ Therefore, NT is not obligated to pay reciprocal
compensation to Level 3.
Level 3 argues that the use of a transit provider enables the CLEC originating the
call "to hide behind the transit provider to avoid compensating the terminating
jcarriets^'^„Thisjargument_is both logically flawed and contrary.to the evidence. The
fallacy in Level 3's argument is that the doubly-indirect Type L" interconnection that it
seeks, which features two transit providers (NT and AT&T), would exacerbate rather
than ameliorate the problem that Level 3 alleges. Furthermore, NT asserts, both in its
Complaint and In testimony, that it provides all signaling information and call detail
necessary for Level 3 to bill the originating CLECs. Level 3 offered nothing to rebut
NT's claim. Accordingly, NT demonstrated that Level 3 has the ability to collect
reciprocal compensation from the originating CLECs, but apparently chooses not to do
so. Level 3 may choose not to use the information to collect reciprocal compensation.
but it then waives the reciprocal compensation othenwise due, and may not require NT
to collect the same on its behalf.
Finally, the per-minute surcharge proposed by Level 3 in Its letter dated May 8,
2007, also is impermissible. It is little more than a thinly-veiled attempt to impose a
reciprocal compensation-like obligatk>n upon NT under a different label. Such charges
have been disallowed in previous decisions.^® We also reject Level 3's notion that such
a charge is a market-based rate. Level 3 has provided nothing to substantiate such a
label. In addition, the evidence of record demonstrates that NT pays 100% of the cost
of the facilities of the Interconnection, leaving no room for Level 3 to argue that there is
any unrecovered or additional cost per minute for transited calls terminated on the Level
3 network.^^

Section 9-250
NT has requested that it be awarded interconnection on terms no less favorable
than the terms upon which Level 3 and AT&T interconnect. Despite several repetitions
of that refrain, the Level 3-AT&T interconnection agreement is not of record. It appears
from NT's presentation throughout the case that what it seeks is direct interconnection
with no liability to Level 3 for per-minute termination charges and no obligation to bill or
collect reciprocal compensation from the originating carriers. NT states it already pays
for 100% of the costs of the direct, physical interconnection, and there Is nothing to

^* In re Verizon Wireless Petition for Arbitration pursuant to Section 262(b) ofthe Telecommunications Act
of 1996, 01-0007 ("...when one earner transits traffic to another, the transiting carrier, by law, has no
redprocal compensation obligatfon (and no other payment obligation) to the termination carrier") (May 1,
2001) at 35: see aiso 04-0040 al 7-8.
^^ Level 3 Init Br. at 30.
^ See 01-0007 at 36, supra n. 34.
^^ While NT's payment of the entire cost of the facilities and electronics is evidence in its favor In the
instant case, this should not be construed as a threshold or test requiring 100% payment by a similarlysituated complainant.
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indicate that NT seeks a change thereto. As noted supra, NT has prevailed on the
issues of interconnection and reciprocal compensation.
Level 3 disagrees that Section 9-250 allows the relief NT seeks. It notes that NT
is barred from opting-in to particular clauses from an existing interconnection
-agreement_p£irticulariyjQo^that_ia significantly different in scope and.purpose.^ Level
3 also argues that what NT really seeks is arbitration, but that the federal
Telecommunications Act only has such procedures for disputes between a CLEC and
an ILEC.^^ Staff generally agrees with the characterizations of Level 3 on this point
At the outset, we concur with Level 3 and Staff that this case is not an arbitration
within the meaning of Section 252 of the federal Telecommunications Act.*"
Furthemiore, the "opt-in" provision for such interconnection agreements is similarty
inapplicable.'^^ Section 9-250 does apply to the State law claims brought in this matter,
however, and requires abatement ofthe violations.^^
NT argues that Section 9-250 is a basis for the Commission to impose its
preferred agreement on Level 3, and it suggests that Its Traffic Termination Agreement
with Time Warner is a useful template. This approach is problematic for three reasons:
it resembles a Section 252 arbitration; it is substantially similar to the opt-in approach
just rejected; and, even If legally permissible, there Is insufficient Information of record to
weigh whether such terms are genuinely appropriate to the relattonship between NT
and Level 3.
Instead, this Order imposes several mandates to abate the underlying violations,
but ultimately leaves certain elements for further negotiation by the parties. These
mandates are intended to confine the scope of the negotiation to just and reasonable
charges and practices, thereby addressing the requirements of Section 9-250, without
transfomriing the instant case into a federal Section 252 arbitratk>n. By remaining
limited, this approach also recognizes that the parties are in a better position than the
Commission to craft the details of their business relationship, and it accords them some
flexibility to do the same.

See Review of the Section 251 Unbundling Obligations of Incumbent Local Exchange Carriers, CC
Docket 01-338, Second Report and Onder, FCC 04-164. T|12 (rel. July 13,2004). Level 3 also argues that
NT reached a different arrangement with another ILEC, but that argument is, in essence, Level 3
attempting to opt in to a single payment term of an outside agreement. As such, that argument also must
be rejected.
^ See 47 U.S.C. 252(b).
"^ See generally 47 U.S.C. 252(b).
"^ See 47 U.S.C. 252(i)
220 ILCS 5/9-250. CWhenever the Commission, after a hearing had upon its own motion or upon
complaint, shall find that the rates or other charges ... or that the rules, regulations, contracts, or practices
... are unjust, unreasonable, discriminatory or preferential, or in any way in violation of any provisions of
law ... the Commission shall determine the just, reasonable or sufficient rates [etc.] and shall fix the same
by order").
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Therefore, NT and Level 3 shall observe the following provisions in their business
relationship. First, as discussed supra. Level 3 shall continue to accept a direct physical
interconnection by which NT delivers traffic to Level 3 for termination until a further
order from the Commission, and for at least as long as Level 3 maintains a direct

^b.ysicallnteccQtmeclionby whLchJtji^iy^rOL3fficto.NTfQrJrans

_
.

Second. Level 3 shall not require NT to pay or collect reciprocal compensation
for traffic not originated by NT.
Third, Level 3 shall not require NT to pay any fee or other compensation, either
on a per-minute basis or otherwise, for traffic delivered to Level 3 for termination on the
Level 3 network.
Fourth, NT shall continue to provide to Level 3 sufficient call detail such that
Level 3 can bill the originating carrier for reciprocal compensation purposes.
Fifth, if the parties are unable to reach an agreement on a contract that sets forth
the terms and conditions for their commercial relationship, the interconnection shall
continue based upon the status quo in effect between the parties on January 30,
2007.''^
Remedies
NT seeks the following remedies: a declaration that Level 3 has violated
Sections 13-514, 13-702, and 9-250 of the Act; an order requiring Level 3 to
interconnect with NT on just, reasonable, and non-discriminatory terms and conditions
no less favorable than those by which Level 3 accepts transit traffic from AT&T;
attorneys fees and costs; and all further relief available under the Act.
Section 13-516 of the Act provides certain remedies for violations of Section 13514,** including a cease-and-desist order,*^ damages.*® and attorney's fees and costs.*^
Section 13-515(g) mandates an assessment of the Commission's own costs related to
the case.'*®
**^ Level 3 argues that Commission regulation of CLEC-to-CLEC interconnection is inconsistent with
Section 252 of the federal Telecommunications Act. Separately, Level 3 argues that Section 252 does
not apply to this proceeding—a point that no party contests. All of the alleged violations are of state
statutes. Furthermore, interconnection was not an issue until Level 3 pursued an arrangement that was
discriminatory against NT, 18 other CLECs, and their customers. It is Level 3's behavior, which is anticompetitive and contrary to the public interest, that is the primary interest of the Commission in this case.
^ See generally 220 ILCS 5/13-516.
•^220 ILCS 5/13-516(a)(1).
"^220 ILCS 5/13-516(a)(3).
"id.
"^ 220 ILCS 5/13-515(9).
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By a preponderance of the evidence. NT has established that the conduct of
Level 3 at issue in this dispute violates Sections 13-514(1), 13-514(2), 13-514(6). and
13-702, and, as such, is an impediment to competition and contrary to the public
interest. There is no separately discernable violation of Section 9-250; instead, that
Section requires certain attributes in the ongoing business relationship. The cease-anddesist order will be included, consistent with the findings herein, and will reflect the
mandates set forth under Section 9-250. There will be no award of monetary damages
at this tlme.'*^
The remaining issue concerns the assessment of fees and costs. Illinois courts
have stated that I t is well established that fee-shifting statutes are to be strictly
construed and that the amount of fees to be awarded lies within the Commission's
'broad discretionary powers.'"^ As noted, violations of Section 13-514 have occurred.
NT therefore is entitled to an award of attomey's fees and costs ^^ based upon its
litigation success.^^
NT did indeed establish violations by Level 3 of Sections 13-514(1), 13-514(2),
and 13-514(6], as well as 13-702. NT was less clear in its arguments and evidence for
its Section 9-250 claim, and ultimately the remedies sought by NT under this Section
were denied in part. Following the model used most recently in the Cbeyond case,*^ the
relative litigation success (for the sole purpose of assessing fees and costs) of NT is
detenmined to be 80%, heavily weighted upon NT's prosecution of Sections 13-514(1),
13-514(2). 13-514(6), and 13-702.^ Accordingly. Level 3 is assessed 80% of NTs
attorney's fees and costs. Level 3 also is assessed 90% of the Commission's costs,
consisting of all of its own half, and 80% of NTs half. NT is assessed the 10% balance
of the Commission's costs, consisting of the remaining 20% of its half of the costs.

CONCLUSION
Based on the foregoing, we find that:

49

This is included for completeness pursuant to Section 13*516(a)(3). No damages were quantified in
the Complaint From the record, it appears that any such damages only would accrue if Level 3 were to
actually disconnect NT. which it has not done to date.
^ Gtobalcom. Inc. v. IU. Commerce Comm'n, 347 lll.App.3d 592. 618 ( 1 ^ Dist. 2004).
^^ 220 ILCS 5/13-516(a)(3) (the Commission "shall awand" such fees and costs).
^^ See Gtobalcom, Inc. v. ///. Commerce Comm'n, 347 lll.App.3d 592. 618 ( 1 * Dist. 2004); Cbeyond
Commun's, LLP v. ill Bell TeL Co., Dockets 05-0154/05-0156/05-05-0174 (cons.) (June 2, 2005), at 4344; Gtobalcom. Inc., v. IIL Beli TeL Co., Docket 02-0365 (Order on Rehearing. Dec. 11.2002). at 50-51.
^^ See Cbeyond Commun's, LLP v. IIL Bell TeL Co.. Dockets 05-0154/05.0156/05-06-0174 (cons.) <June
2, 2005), at 43-45.
^ See id. at 45. (Such award is an approximation of NT's litigation success.
regarding this quantification is simply not practicable.")
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(1)

Neutral Tandem, Inc. and Neutral Tandem-Illinois, LLC own, control,
operate, or manage, for public use, property or equipment for the
provision of telecommunications services In Illinois and, as such,
are telecommunications carriers within the meaning of Section 13202 of the Act;

(2)

Level 3 Communications, LLC ovwis, controls, operates, or
manages, for public use, property or equipment for the provision of
telecommunications services in Illinois and. as such, is a
telecommunications carrier within the meaning of Section 13-202 of
the Act;

(3)

the Commission has jurisdiction of the parties hereto and the
subject matter hereof;

(4)

the recitals of fact and conclusions reached in the prefatory portion
of this Order are supported by the record and are hereby adopted
as findings of fact and conclusions of law; and

(5)

the remedies set forth above should be adopted to address the
violations of Section 13-514 and 13-702 ofthe Public Utilities Act.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED that Level 3 Communications, LLC cease and
desist from its threat to disconnect or othenA/lse disrupt the direct physical interconnection
with Neutral Tandem, Inc. and Neutral Tandem-Illinois, LLC, by which Neutral Tandem,
Inc. and Neutral Tandem-Illinois, LLC deliver traffic to Level 3 Communications, LLC.
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Level 3 Communications, LLC cease and desist
from requiring Neutral Tandem, Inc. and Neutral Tandem-Illinois, LLC to pay or collect
reciprocal compensation for traffic not originated by Neutral Tandem, Inc. and Neutral
Tandem-Illinois, LLC, or to pay any fee or other compensation, either on a per-minute
basis or otherwise, for traffic delivered to Level 3 Communications. LLC for termination
on its network.
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Level 3 Communications, LLC cease and desist
from any act discussed and found herein to violate Sections 13-514 or 13-702 of the
Public Utilities Act.
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Neutral Tandem, Inc. and Neutral TandemIllinois, LLC shall continue to provide to Level 3 Communications, LLC sufficient call
detail such that Level 3 can bill the originating carrier for reciprocal compensation
purposes.
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, if the parties are unable to reach an agreement
on a contract that sets forth the terms and conditions for their commercial relationship,
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that the exchange of traffic shall continue based upon the status quo in effect between
the parties on January 30, 2007.
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Level 3 Communications, LLC pay 80% of the
attorney's fees and costs of Neutral Tandem, Inc. and Neutral Tandem-Illinois, LLC, as
jA^ell as 90% of the Commission's costs incurred in this proceeding as prescribed by
Sections 13-515 and 13-516 of the Public Utilities Act.
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Neutral Tandem, Inc. and Neutral TandemIllinois, LLC pay the remaining 10% of the Commission's costs incurred in this
proceeding as prescribed by Section 13-515 of the Public Utilities Act.
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, subject to the provisions of Sections 10-113 and
13-515(d)(8) of the Public Utilities Act and 83 III. Adm. Code 200.880, this Order is final; it
is not subject to the Administrafive Review Law.

So ordered this 26th day of June, 2007.
Ian Brodsky,
Administrative Law Judge
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EXHIBIT 5

STATE OF NEW YORK
PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION
At a session of the Public Service
Commission held in the City of
Albany on June 20, 2007
COMMISSIONERS PRESENT:
Patricia L. Acampora, Chairwoman
Maureen F. Harris
Robert E. Curry, Jr.
Cheryl A. Buley

CASE 07-C-0233 - Petition of Neutral Tandem - New York, LLC for
Interconnection with Level 3 Communications and
Request for Order Preventing Service
Disruption.

ORDER PREVENTING SERVICE DISRUPTION AND
REQUIRING CONTINUATION OF INTERIM INTERCONNECTION
(Issued and Effective June 22, 2007)
BY THE COMMISSION:
INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY
We initiated this proceeding to consider a complaint in
which Neutral Tandem, Inc. - New York LLC (Neutral Tandem) asks
that we require Level 3 Communications LLC (Level 3) to continue
direct interconnection with Neutral Tandem, while Level 3 asks us
to require a migration plan for orderly divestiture of Neutral
Tandem's customers in anticipation that we will allow Level 3 to
discontinue the interconnection. The two firms established their
present direct interconnection pursuant to a transport agreement
and two termination agreements. Level 3 unilaterally has
canceled the termination agreements, after fulfilling the notice
requirements prescribed in the agreements.
In today's order we grant Neutral Tandem's requested
relief provisionally by directing the parties to continue
performing their respective obligations as if the canceled
termination agreements remained in effect, pending the completion
of a proceeding pursuant to Public Service Law (PSL) §97 if
necessary to investigate the rates, charges, rules and
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regulations under which the parties provide call transport and
termination services to one another. We shall initiate the rate
proceeding at our first regularly scheduled session after 90 days
have elapsed from the date of this order, unless the parties
execute a new termination agreement in the interim.
FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND
In New York and other states. Neutral Tandem maintains
tandem switches which competitive local exchange carriers (CLECs)
can use as an alternative to tandem switches owned by incumbent
local exchange carriers (ILECs) such as Verizon New York Inc.
Neutral Tandem provides this service to about 23 CLECs in New
York. Level 3 or its affiliates likewise operate in New York and
other states, as CLECs that transport local calls originated by
their end-user customers and terminate local calls to those
customers. Among telecommunications providers in the New York
market, Neutral Tandem is unique in offering a competitive
alternative to the ILECs tandem switch, and in providing
transport and termination services only to CLECs without having
end-user customers of its own.
Until the controversy that led to this proceeding,
Neutral Tandem and Level 3 had been handling local calls in New
York pursuant to three interconnection agreements between them.
Under the first, which may be described as a ''^transport
agreement," local calls that are originated by Level 3's end-user
customers and routed through Level 3 can be directed to Neutral
Tandem's tandem switch (instead of Verizon's) and thence to a
CLEC. An economic incentive for Level 3 to use this arrangement
is that Neutral Tandem offers Level 3 the transport service at a
lower price than Verizon's.
The other two interconnection agreements, initially
executed in 2004, are described herein as "termination
agreements" and govern calls in the opposite direction. That is,
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the termination agreements specify terms whereby calls
originating from a CLEC^ and routed to Neutral Tandem's tandem
switch can be directed to Level 3 (here again, bypassing the
Verizon tandem switch) and thence to Level 3's end-user
customers. One of the termination agreements with Neutral Tandem
was executed by Level 3; the other was executed by Broadwing
Communications LLC, and was inherited by Level 3 when it acquired
Broadwing, For Level 3, the economic attraction of the
termination agreements has been that Neutral Tandem pays Level 3
compensation for calls governed by the agreements. Verizon, in
contrast, would be under no similar obligation to Level 3 if the
calls in question were handled by Verizon rather than Neutral
Tandem; instead, under that scenario. Level 3 would be
compensated only if it made the effort to collect reciprocal
compensation from the originating CLECs.
On January 31, 2007, the parties executed a newly
negotiated transport agreement. Later that day. Level 3 notified
Neutral Tandem that Level 3 intended to discontinue negotiations
on a new termination agreement and cancel one of the two
preexisting termination agreements, viz., the one executed by
Level 3. Shortly thereafter, Level 3 gave notice that it also
would cancel the termination agreement executed by Broadwing.
Without examining any negotiating positions undisclosed by the
parties, the record is clear that a primary obstacle to
negotiation of a new termination agreement has been the issue
whether Level 3 should continue to receive compensation directly
from Neutral Tandem (as Level 3 contends) or should be relegated
to its right of reciprocal compensation from the CLECs (as
Neutral Tandem contends).
In accordance with the cancellation provisions in each
of the termination agreements. Level 3 gave Neutral Tandem 30
days' notice of its intent to cancel. The later of the two
For the present discussion, a CLEC in the situation governed
by the termination agreement can be said to ^^originate" the
calls in question—in the sense that the call originates on
that C L E C s network—although of course the call initially
originates from an end user.
-3
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resulting expiration dates was March 23, 2007, which Level 3 then
extended voluntarily (as to both termination agreements) through
June 25, 2007 to allow time for a hearing and decision in this
expedited proceeding. Meanwhile, both parties have continued to
operate in accordance with the terms of the newly executed
transport agreement and the preexisting, but canceled,
termination agreements.
The parties' numerous filings to the Commission or the
assigned Administrative Law Judge have included, most notably,
Neutral Tandem's complaint and petition in which it seeks an
order requiring interconnection and preventing service
disruption; Level 3's motions to dismiss the complaint and compel
Neutral Tandem to prepare a migration plan in anticipation of
dismissal;^ and prefiled testimony by both parties, which was
examined in an evidentiary hearing.
ARGUMENTS AND CONCLUSIONS
Jurisdiction
The threshold question, broadly stated, is whether we
have jurisdiction to grant Neutral Tandem's request for direct
interconnection with Level 3. If not, then our obligation to
ensure the continuity of safe and adequate service would require
that we direct Neutral Tandem to implement an orderly migration
plan as Level 3 proposes. For the following reasons, however, we
conclude that the requisite jurisdiction to grant Neutral
Tandem's requested relief is established by the PSL and is not
preempted by the Telecommunications Act of 1996.
According to Neutral Tandem, its role as a transiting
provider entitles it to direct interconnection with a CLEC such
as Level 3 by operation of 16 NYCRR 605.2(a)(2), which provides
that "interconnection into the networks of telephone corporations
shall be provided for other public or private networks." In

Consistently with the determinations in today's order, we
formally deny Level 3's dismissal motion, which the
Administrative Law Judge previously denied by informal ruling
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response. Level 3 correctly observes that Rule 605.2(a) (2) never
has been relied upon to require that a CLEC offer direct
interconnection to an entity such as Neutral Tandem (as
distinguished from an end user). Level 3 emphasizes that, if it
ended the termination agreements at issue and ended Neutral
Tandem's direct interconnection under those agreements. Neutral
Tandem nevertheless would remain interconnected to Level 3
indirectly via the Verizon tandem. Therefore, Level 3 argues,
the interconnection requirement in Rule 605.2(a) (2) would
continue to be satisfied.
As Neutral Tandem points out, however, we unquestionably
have the authority to interpret our rules in a manner that "is
not irrational or unreasonable."^ Thus, Level 3's objection that
Neutral Tandem's proposed interpretation is novel begs the
question whether Rule 605.2(a) (2) may reasonably be read to
require direct interconnection between Level 3 and Neutral
Tandem, should we determine that direct interconnection would be
a "just, reasonable, adequate, efficient and proper" practice
within the meaning of PSL §97(2) and a "suitable" connection
method as required by §97(3). The question must be answered
affirmatively. Under Level 3's theory, the regulation's silence
regarding "direct" interconnection would implicitly prevent our
requiring anything more than indirect interconnection through the
Verizon tandem, even though the regulation does not expressly
preclude our requiring a direct interconnection. Thus, instead
of construing Rule 605.2(a)(2) conventionally, i.e., as an
implementation of statutory authority, Level 3's interpretation
perversely would transform the rule into a constraint on our
statutory authority to require direct interconnection in any
instance where Level 3 refuses to offer it.
Moreover, given Level 3's theory that Rule 605.2(a)(2)
requires interconnections only indirectly and only between a CLEC
and the originating end users. Neutral Tandem is correct that it
is self-contradictory for Level 3 to reject the notion of a
^Ass'n of Cable Access Producers v. PSC, 1 AD3d 761, 763,
767 NYS2d 166, 168 (3d Dept. 2003).
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mandatory direct interconnection between Neutral Tandem and
Level 3, as that is precisely the configuration that creates,
between Level 3 and originating end u s e r s , t h e "indirect
interconnection" supposedly prescribed (according to Level 3) by
Rule 605.2(a) (2) .
The argument over Rule 605.2(a)(2) points to a more
basic consideration, namely the scope of our authority pursuant
to the statute from which any rule or ratemaking decision must be
derived. Neutral Tandem properly invokes several relevant PSL
provisions applicable to Level 3 as a telephone corporation (a
characterization undisputed by Level 3 ) . Thus, Neutral Tandem
says, it must be granted direct interconnection with Level 3
pursuant to the requirement in PSL §91 that a telephone
corporation provide such "facilities as shall be adequate and in
all respects just and reasonable." Neutral Tandem cites also our
responsibility to exercise "general supervision" over all
telephone companies and facilities (PSL §94(2)); to ensure that
rates are not "unjust, unreasonable or unjustly discriminatory or
unduly preferential or in anywise in violation of law" (PSL
§97(1)); to require just and reasonable rules, regulations, and
practices, and adequate, efficient, proper, and sufficient
equipment and service (PSL §97(2)); and to require suitable
connections or transfers at just and reasonable rates (PSL
§97(3)).
Assuming for the moment that nothing in the
Telecommunications Act of 1996 preempts us from granting the
relief sought by Neutral Tandem, and that direct interconnection
between Neutral Tandem and Level 3 is shown to be necessary for
the effective provision of telephone service (as contemplated in,
e.g., the cited provisions of PSL §§ 91, 97(2), and 97(3)),
Level 3 has provided no plausible basis for its claim that the
requested relief would exceed our statutory authority. On the
contrary, the PSL provisions cited above are designed to vest us
with plenary jurisdiction comprehensive enough to include
supervision of the terms and conditions of interconnection for
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transport and termination services, to the extent consistent with
federal law.''
As noted, Level 3 misinterprets Rule 605.2(a)(2) as an
implied prohibition against our requiring that Level 3 provide
Neutral Tandem direct connection, as distinguished from indirect
interconnection through the Verizon tandem. In a related
argument. Level 3 says the Telecommunications Act of 1996
preempts any state statute or regulation that otherwise might
authorize us to order Level 3 to offer direct interconnection.
Level 3 argues that the 1996 Act, like Rule 605.2, bars us from
requiring direct interconnection because the Act, in 47 USC
§251(a)(1), provides that every carrier has a duty to
"interconnect directly or indirectly with other carriers"
(emphasis added). Accordingly, says Level 3, the Federal
Communications Commission (FCC) has described indirect
interconnection as "a form of interconnection explicitly
recognized and supported by" the 1996 Act.^ Level 3 further
notes that Rule 605.2(a) (2) antedates the 1996 Act, as if to
imply that the rule cannot be reconciled with the 1996 regulatory
framework.
That the 1996 Act recognizes indirect interconnection
does not imply that the Act forecloses direct interconnection
when the latter is more appropriate. The network configuration
contemplated in the Act is one that provides the originating CLEC
and its end users the opportunity to choose their preferred
routing based on consideration of all relevant factors such as
cost, reliability, and efficiency. As Level 3 itself, has argued
to the Federal Communications Commission (FCC), "it is always the
option of the carrier with the financial duty for transport
[i.e., the originating CLEC] to choose how to transport its
As an illustration of our exercise of such jurisdiction.
Neutral Tandem cites Case OO-C-0789, Omnibus Interconnection
Proceeding, Order Establishing requirements for the Exchange
of Local Traffic (issued December 22, 2000).
In the Matter of Developing a Unified Intercarrier
Compensation Regime, CC Docket No. 01-92, Further Notice of
Proposed Rulemaking, 20 FCC Red 4685, 4740 (fl25) (rel.
March 3, 2005),
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traffic," as among "direct interconnection . , . via its own
facilities, [via] the terminating carrier's facilities, or via
the facilities of a third party."^
In this proceeding, however, as we have noted regarding
Level 3's interpretation of Rule 605.2(a)(2), Level 3's
interpretation of the 1996 Act would perversely transform the
options assured the originating CLEC under 47 USC §251(a) (1) into
a supposed power on Level 3's part to dictate that the
originating CLEC cannot choose direct interconnection with
Level 3. And, just as in its mistakenly restrictive
interpretation of Rule 605.2(a)(2), Level 3 would read out of the
1996 Act the option of direct interconnection between Neutral
Tandem and Level 3 even though such direct interconnection
results in "indirect interconnection," which Level 3 says the Act
requires, between Level 3 and originating CLECs' end users.
Because Level 3's reading of §251(a)(1) would enable Level 3 to
compel these results in disregard of the principle that
originating CLECs may choose how to route their traffic. Level 3
errs in asserting that §251(a)(1), properly construed, preempts
our requiring direct interconnection between by Neutral Tandem
and Level 3 pursuant to the PSL and Rule 605.2(a) (2)Indeed, the 1996 Act not only allows us to require
direct interconnection, as discussed; the Act also affirmatively
preserves our obligation to do so, when effective provision of
service requires it, as part of our role in supervising
interconnection arrangements under PSL §§ 91, 94, and 97.
According to 47 USC §251(d)(3)(A), federal regulation must not
prevent a state commission from establishing interconnection
requirements otherwise consistent with the Act. Thus, even
though indirect interconnection may, in the proper circumstances,
satisfy a general duty of interconnection established in
§251(a)(1), the Act does not preclude our requiring direct
interconnection when that option is more reasonable and therefore
is necessary for the discharge of our obligations under state
^ Reply Comments of the Missoula Plan Supporters, CC Docket
No. 01-92 (February 1, 2007), p. 26,
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law."^ Similarly, to the extent consistent with the Act, 47 USC
§261 (b) authorizes the enforcement of preexisting state
regulations (such as Rule 605.2(a)(2), insofar as applicable);
and §261(c) authorizes us to impose new requirements for
furtherance of competition in the provision of exchange access.
As noted below, a major benefit of direct interconnection between
Neutral Tandem and Level 3 is that it promotes such competition.
Thus, 47 USC §§ 251 and 261 provide further assurance that we can
act consistently with federal law in requiring the parties to
maintain their present interconnection.
Network Design and Public Policy Objectives
Having determined that 47 USC §251(a)(1) does not limit
our statutory authority to require that Level 3 continue
providing Neutral Tandem direct interconnection, the next issue
is whether such a requirement would serve the interests entrusted
to us under the PSL. In other proceedings, the Commission or our
staff already has answered that question in the affirmative, and
Level 3 has not persuasively demonstrated the contrary in this
case.
Direct interconnection between Neutral Tandem and
Level 3 enables Neutral Tandem to maintain its independent tandem
switch a s a viable alternative to Verizon's. The availability of
an independent tandem in turn furthers the development of
facilities-based competition among wireless, cable, and landline
telephony, by offering the providers of all such services an
economically advantageous alternative to the Verizon tandem.
According to Level 3, the volume of traffic it receives from
Neutral Tandem is insufficient to make direct interconnection
with Neutral Tandem a more cost-effective configuration, as
The 1996 Act recognizes that we may need to decide how
interconnections should be structured in the course of rate
arbitration between an ILEC and a CLEC. 47 USC §§ 252(c), (d)
Although this case does not involve an ILEC, it involves a
similarly inseparable interrelationship between the
reasonableness of interconnection methods and the
reasonableness of the rates charged for those
interconnections.
-9-
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compared with receiving the same traffic indirectly from Neutral
Tandem through the Verizon tandem. However, the record shows
that Neutral Tandem sends Level 3 a volume of traffic about 180
times greater than the DS-1 level, and we have found the latter
sufficient to justify maintenance of dedicated transport capacity
on the part of a terminating CLEC such as Level 3.^
For originating CLECs, the ability to choose the more
cost effective tandem service, as between Neutral Tandem's and
Verizon's competing services, creates an opportunity for cost
savings and optimum efficiency. The resulting mitigation of the
CLECs' cost of service tends to enhance competition among CLECs,
minimize the costs recovered through end users' rates, and
encourage additional investment in facilities-based services,
consistently with the similar objectives we have cited in
supporting the principles of open network architecture and
comparably efficient interconnection.^
In addition, the redundancy resulting from alternative
tandem switching options enhances the diversity and reliability
of the public switched telephone network. These objectives have
consistently been recognized on several occasions, particularly
as a response to lessons of the September 11, 2001 attacks and
Hurricane Katrina.'^" While Level 3 disputes the benefits of
redundancy on the basis that Neutral Tandem's tandem switch is
just as vulnerable as other CLECs' facilities sharing the same
physical location with Neutral Tandem's, even an arrangement
where Neutral Tandem and CLECs collocate provides clear diversity

Case OO-C-0789, supra, Order Establishing Requirements for the
Exchange of Local Traffic (issued December 22, 2000).
^^^f g-g•/ Case 88-C-004, Interconnection Arrangements, Open
Network Architecture, and Comparably Efficient
Interconnection, Opinion No. 89-28 (issued September 11,
1989), at pp. 7-8.
10

Petition of Neutral Tandem, Inc. for Interconnection with
Verizon Wireless, J/^C Docket No. 06-159, Reply Comments of
NYSDPS (filed September 25, 2006); Case 03-C-0922, Telephone
Network Reliability, Order Instituting Proceeding (issued
July 21, 2003); DPS Staff White Paper (issued November 2,
2002) .
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and reliability advantages as compared with relying only on an
ILECs tandem switch maintained solely at the I L E C s location.
Conversely, denial of the relief sought by Neutral
Tandem would create potential impediments to competition, by
enhancing Level 3's capacity to act as a bottleneck between its
end users and CLECs if the CLEC chooses Neutral Tandem's tandem
switch over Verizon's. While Level 3 argues that any
interference with originating CLECs' access through Neutral
Tandem to Level 3's end users would violate Level 3's own
business interests. Neutral Tandem h a s shown that Level 3 has
allowed incoming traffic to be disrupted in analogous situations
in the past. Level 3's potential bottleneck function becomes an
ever greater concern insofar as Level 3 may seek to provide
tandem switch service in competition with Neutral Tandem.
Remedies
The final question—albeit the primary one, evidently,
in the parties' negotiations—is whether to credit Level 3's
argument that, even if the public policy benefits of the present
network configuration are more substantial than Level 3 concedes,
they cannot justify an order compelling Level 3 to offer Neutral
Tandem a termination agreement under which Level 3 serves Neutral
Tandem free of charge. A corollary issue is Neutral Tandem's
claim that Level 3, by insisting on payment, is attempting to
extract terms that would be discriminatory or potentially
anticompetitive. We view these claims as arguments that address
neither the scope of our jurisdiction nor the merits, from a
policy standpoint, of requiring direct interconnection pursuant
to our authority under PSL §§ 97(2) and (3). Rather, they
implicate only the question of just and reasonable pricing under
§97, which is a conventional ratemaking issue to be resolved
through the ratemaking process prescribed in PSL §97(1). It is
for that reason that we will initiate a rate proceeding if the
parties do not negotiate a new agreement.
In a rate case, as in negotiations, relevant
considerations might include (among other things) whether
-11-
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Level 3's access to reciprocal compensation from CLECs is an
adequate substitute for direct payments from Neutral Tandem;
whether the parties' transport and termination agreements should
be considered independently or in combination when assessing the
reasonableness of the rates they establish relative to the
obligations and benefits they confer on each party; and, if the
agreements are to be considered in combination, whether the terms
established in the present transport agreement should be modified
s o that the agreements collectively will yield results that are
just and reasonable overall. ^^ As long as such considerations
have yet to be examined in a future phase of this proceeding, it
would be premature to determine whether any particular level of
compensation (or the absence of compensation) renders a
termination agreement unreasonable as Level 3 claims.
The parties have offered conflicting testimony regarding
the extent, if any, to which cancellation of the present direct
interconnection would disrupt traffic currently routed to Level 3
through Neutral Tandem. According to Neutral Tandem, an orderly
transition would require six months. Level 3 seems to assert
that a nearly instantaneous transition could be managed through
the use of emergency facilities that link the Verizon tandem to
Level 3, and adds that any disruption would be the product of
Neutral Tandem's own failure to anticipate an adverse decision in
this proceeding.
We find that the risk of disruption has been
demonstrated sufficiently that an order requiring immediate
cancellation of the present interconnection would not be
consistent with the sound exercise of our supervisory authority
under the PSL. Moreover, cancellation would be unreasonably
disruptive under the best of circumstances because our objective
at this stage of the proceeding is to initiate further
11

A full rate proceeding, if any, also would be the more
appropriate forum in which to consider (if necessary) the
allegations that certain rates and practices are
discriminatory or otherwise improper, as the parties have
discussed in a series of late, unauthorized pleadings filed
May 23, 2007 and subsequently.
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negotiations and thus obviate a contested rate p r o c e e d i n g .
It
would make little sense to suspend the present interconnection in
anticipation that it will be reinstituted as soon as the terms
and conditions of a new termination agreement have been
established.
Accordingly, we are directing the parties to continue
operating in accordance with their preexisting transport and
termination agreements, provided however that payments pursuant
to those agreements after the date of this order will be subject
to adjustment, by reparation, credit, or refund, ^^ should we find
at the conclusion of a rate proceeding that such payments were
insufficient or excessive. By postponing the commencement of a
rate proceeding until our first session 90 days after issuance of
today's order, we intend to provide the parties a reasonable
opportunity to negotiate new rates and thus avoid the resource
expenditure that would result from a litigated rate case.
Although Level 3 proposes that we direct Neutral Tandem
to pay an interim rate of $0.0007 per minute of use for
termination service, that rate would be inconsistent with the
objectives of today's order because it avowedly is designed to
encourage Neutral Tandem to stop offering tandem switching
service. Instead, by letting interim rates remain at the same
level that the parties themselves negotiated at arms' length in
the preexisting agreements, we ensure that the rates will be
sufficiently reasonable as a proxy, subject to retrospective
adjustment, for permanent rates subsequently established in a
rate case. As should be obvious from the foregoing discussion,
we have not thereby determined that a permanent termination
agreement would be inherently unreasonable either if it exempted
Neutral Tandem from any payment, or if it required that Neutral
Tandem pay a rate different from the amount payable under the
preexisting agreements.

^^ See PSL §113(1) .
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The Commission orders:
1. Neutral Tandem, Inc» - New York LLC (Neutral
Tandem) and Level 3 Communications LLC (Level 3) are directed to
maintain their current interconnections with each other in
accordance with the transport agreement and the termination
agreements described in this order.
2. Order Clause 1 above will remain in effect, and the
rates prescribed therein will remain in effect subject to
adjustment for the period from the date of this order until the
later of (a) the execution of a termination agreement to replace
the canceled agreements under which Neutral Tandem and Level 3
currently operate, or (b) completion of a rate proceeding to
consider the parties' rates for transport and termination '
services.
3. This proceeding is continued but, upon completion,
shall be closed in the Secretary's discretion.
By the Commission,

(SIGNED)

JACLYN A. BRILLING
Secretary
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